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.
This report outlines ESERA’s projects and activities for the 2021/22 
financial year and gives an overview of the regulation of Eswatini’s 
Electricity Supply Industry and Downstream Petroleum activities.
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03. Acronyms

ARENE   Autoridade Reguladora de Energie
BERA    Botswana Energy Regulatory Authority
BPC    Botswana Power Corporation
CEB    Central Electricity Board
CEC    Copperbelt Energy Corporation
CEO    Chief Executive Officer
CSER    Center for Sustainable Energy Research
ECB    Electricity Control Board
EEC    Eswatini Electricity Company
EIPPP    Eswatini Independent Power Producer Policy
ENDE    Empresa Nacional de Distribuição de Electricidade
ESERA    Eswatini Energy Regulatory Authority
ESI    Electricity Supply Industry
ESKOM    Electricity Supply Commission
ESCOM    Electricity Supply Corporation of Malawi Limited
ERB    Energy Regulation Board
EWURA    Energy and Water Utilities Regulatory Authority
GWh    Gigawatt hours
HCB    Hidroeléctrica de Cahora Bassa
IESBA    International Ethics Standards Boards for Accountants
IFRS    International Financial Reporting Standard
ISA    International Standards on Auditing
IRSEA    Instituto Regulador dos Serviços de Electricidade e de Água
JIRAMA    Jiro sy rano malagasy
kW    Kilowatts
LEC    Lesotho Electricity Company
LEWA    Lesotho Electricity and Water Authority
LNG    Liquid Nitrogen Gas
LPG    Liquid Petroleum Gas
MW    MegaWatts
MERA    Malawi Energy Regulatory Authority
MEPS    Minimum Energy Performance Standards
MNRE    Ministry of Natural Resources and Energy
NERSA    National Energy Regulator of South Africa
PEU    Public Enterprise Unit
PMS    Performance Management System
PUC    Public Utilities Corporation
PV    Photovoltaic
RCA    Regulatory Clearing Account
REScorp    Royal Eswatini Sugar Corporation
RERA    Regional Energy Regulator Association of Southern Africa
RFP    Request For Proposal
SADC    Southern African Development Community
SAPP    Southern African Power Pool
SEC    Seychelles Energy Commission
SME    Small and Medium sized Entities
SNEL    Societe Nationale d&#39;Electricite
SSEG    Small Scale Embedded Generation
SWASA    Eswatini Standard Authorities
TANESCO   Tanzania Electric Supply Company
URA    Utility Regulatory Authority
ZESCO    Zambia Electricity Supply Corporation
ZERA    Zimbabwe Energy Regulatory Authority
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Chairperson's statement04.

The year saw the smooth 
transitioning of regulated 

downstream petroleum 
activities from the Ministry of 
Natural Resources and Energy 

to the Authority. The Authority 
successfully monitored 

compliance of petroleum 
licensees. 

I am pleased to present our annual report for the 
year ended March 2022. This report includes the 
Audited Financial Statements and activities carried 
out during the year under review, including a highlight 
of achievements made and challenges faced by the 
Authority.

Our appointment as a new Board coincided with the 
expiry of the previous ESERA strategy and therefore 
our first task was to develop a three-year strategic 
plan to give future direction. We are pleased that this 
was accomplished and also resulted in the redefinition 
of the Authority’s vision statement to address the 
emerging and future needs of the energy industry. 
The new strategy (2022-2025) further addresses 
the expanded role of the Authority to regulate the 
downstream petroleum sector which came as a result 
of the promulgated Petroleum Act of 2020.

The Board relentlessly pursued the need to create 
an enabling energy regulatory environment and 
liberalise the industry. In driving this objective, we are 
pleased that in the year under review we concluded 
the Development of the Small-Scale Embedded 
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Generation Framework (SSEG). The inclusion of SSEG in the local electricity mix is 
well articulated in the Eswatini Independent Power Producer Policy and has been 
further developed in response to the electricity industry needs to export excess 
power to the grid. We further concluded the much-needed National Connection 
Charge Guidelines to establish a standardised approach to dealing with electricity 
network connections and associated connection charges for end user customers, 
ensuring a transparent, fair and consistent connection charge approach and 
establishing a set of base connection charge principles.

The year saw the smooth transitioning of regulated downstream petroleum activities 
from the Ministry of Natural Resources and Energy to the Authority. The Authority 
successfully monitored compliance of petroleum licensees. More than 75% of 
existing players in the wholesaling and retailing of petrol and diesel were licensed.

The Authority was not without challenges, as we experienced protracted delays 
on the planned implementation and delivery of combined PV solar and Biomass 
new generation capacity of circa 85MW projects. These challenges are however 
being addressed and we envisage that these projects will take off in the coming year. 
The COVID-19 pandemic effects delayed completion of some of the regulatory 
frameworks and sadly resulted in the loss of one of our employees. Whilst ESERA 
strives to attract and retain highly professional talent, we also lost some of our key 
staff to industry.

The future outlook presents opportunities to rollout the new generation capacity 
projects, and complete key regulatory frameworks. The envisaged regulatory 
instruments include the development of mini-grids and off-grid regulatory 
framework to electrify areas where grid extension is not feasible; the wheeling 
framework, which will contribute to the liberalization of the electricity market by 
ensuring third party usage of the transmission and distribution grid; banning of 
inefficient lighting products regulations; and the adoption of national transformer 
distribution standards. The Board will further ensure the development of new 
policies to drive a high performance culture within the Authority.

Finally, I would like to thank my fellow Board members, Management, and staff of 
the Authority; the Honourable Minister of Natural Resources and Energy and his 
officials; including all our stakeholders at large, for their commitment and continued 
support rendered to ESERA in developing the Kingdom’s energy sector.

Lungile Dlamini

 ESERA Board Chairperson
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05.

The 2021/22 financial year has been a very significant 
year given the numerous developments and initiatives that 
ensued in that period of our regulatory calendar. It was a 
progressive transitional period, lined with robust regulation 
activities and also saw the establishment of the Petroleum 
Regulation section to ensure technical compliance and 
reliable supply in the downstream petroleum industry.

At this point I am proud to outline the progress that has 
been made in issuing out relevant licenses to current 
existing players and prospective new players, with 51% of 
the applications for petroleum licenses having already been 
approved whilst the remaining 49% are currently at various 
stages of being processed in this reporting period.

I am also happy to outline the successful completion of 
the 2023 to 2025 ESERA Strategic Plan in line with our 
expanded role under the Petroleum Act of 2020 and the 
Energy Regulatory Act of 2007 respectively. We also 
conducted a series of stakeholder engagements that 
promoted constructive dialogue on salient energy matters 
in line with our Stakeholder Engagement Framework.

The Eswatini Energy Regulatory 
Authority (ESERA) is a category 

A public enterprise established in 
terms of the Energy Act of 2007

CEO's Statement
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CONSIDERABLE PROGRESS WAS MADE BY 
OUR ELECTRICITY REGULATION DEPARTMENT 
TOWARDS ROLLING OUT A POWER WHEELING 
INITIATIVE.

Further to that, considerable progress was made towards rolling out a power wheeling initiative 
which we believe will ensure smooth transition to the ultimate market envisaged by the Eswatini 
Independent Power Producer Policy. Significant strides were made towards obtaining 
new renewable generation capacity through IPP’s and we look forward to accomplish 
this task which will assist Eswatini with the much-desired security of supply.

Over and above all the strides and accomplishments of this reporting period, let me 
express our gratitude to all those who have made ESERA the institution it is today. 
To the Ministry of Natural Resources and Energy thank you for your guidance, we 
have continued to grow under your wing. To the ESERA board, thank you for your 
unwavering leadership which continues to guide us in the execution of our duties. To 
all the energy industry players and regulated entities, thank you for your compliance 
and support and to the ESERA staff and management thank you for your continued 
commitment and dedication to executing ESERA’s mandate.

May the upcoming financial year herald even greater prospects for ESERA.

Skhumbuzo Tsabedze

Chief Executive Officer
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PROFESSIONALISM

In doing our business, we conduct 
ourselves with high standards of behaviour, 
competence and excellence and continually 

evaluate our performance.

INTEGRITY

We conduct ourselves with high level 
of honesty, sincerity and consistency.

OUR MISSION

To ensure an inclusive, viable and 
sustainable energy industry, through 
impartial, effective and efficient 
regulation.

  

OUR VISION

To be recognised as an independent 
and effective energy regulator in the 
region.

  

TRANSPARENCY

We conduct our business in an open 
manner, explain our decisions and 

processes and subject to legislation, 
make relevant information available.

ACCOUNTABILITY

We take responsibility and own up to 
our decisions and actions and account 

for their outcomes.

FAIRNESS

When dealing with our stakeholders, we 
are objective, impartial and deal with 
matters at hand on their own merits.

ACCESSIBILITY AND 
RESPONSIVENESS

We are sensitive to the needs of our 
stakeholders, consult them, and 

within reasonable limits, are available 
to respond to their queries speedily.

O
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U
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All the Authority’s reports were submitted within legislated 
time frames and since inception the Authority obtained 
an unqualified and clean audit opinion from the external 
auditor. 

Executive summary

i. Board Issues

In the year under review, the term of office 
for three board members came to an end and 
the Minister appointed new board members 
together with a new board chairperson. The 
former Chief Executive Officer retired in March 
2021 and the new Chief Executive Officer was 
appointed in August 2021. 

ii. Licencing 

Electricity
 
In accordance with the provisions of the 
Electricity Act of 2007, the Authority issued 
two licenses to Lilanga Power for generation 
and supply of electricity. The Authority further 
issued 11 exemptions from the obligation to 
hold a generation license. 

Petroleum

In accordance with provisions of the Petroleum 
Act of 2020, the Authority issued the following 
licenses: 7 wholesale, 52 retail and 26 
commercial consumer licenses.

iii. Licence Fees

In line with license fee regulations, the 
Authority continued collecting license fees as 
the main revenue stream, enhancing financial 
independence. License fees amounted to 100% 
of total revenue. 

iv. Reporting

All the Authority’s reports were submitted 
within legislated time frames and since inception 

the Authority obtained an unqualified and clean 
audit opinion from the external auditor. 

v. Electricity Tariffs

The Authority continued to monitor regional 
tariff trends, particularly in South Africa, 
Namibia and Botswana. This information and 
analysis was provided in quarterly reports to 
inform the Board regarding emerging trends and 
their impact on the local tariff environment.
  
vi. Compliance Monitoring and Enforcement

Technical compliance assessments aimed at 
evaluating licensees’ level of compliance to 
license conditions, Quality of Service (SZNS026) 
and Quality of Supply (SZNS-028) standards 
were undertaken.

vii. Consumer Education and Awareness

Awareness continued to improve during the 
period as a result of aggressive efforts to 
increase presence on digital platforms, over and 
above the existing print media platforms already 
in use. The conclusion of the Communication 
Strategy introduced a new approach to ESERA's 
awareness initiatives.

vii. New Generation Capacity Procurement

This section covers key milestones of the newly 
established New Capacity Procurement Unit 
for ESERA who undertake the procurement of 
Independent Power Producers in the country.
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P

• Development of a Small-Scale Embedded 
Generation Framework

• Development of Ringfencing and Cost 
Allocation Guidelines

• Finance Policy

• Connection Charge Guidelines

• Subsidy Framework

• Corporate Governance Policy

• Tariff Methodology Review

• Registration of Electricians

• Development of Mini-grids and Off-grids 
Regulatory Framework

• Review of Quality of Supply and Quality of 
Service Standards

• By-Laws for Penalties for Non-compliance 
with Quality of Service and Quality of 
Supply Standards

• Review of Compliance Monitoring and 
Enforcement Framework

• Development of a Wheeling Framework

• Development of Guidelines for Electricity 
Re-sale

• Study on Optimal Level of Cross Subsidy for 
the Electricity Supply Industry

Completed Projects On-going Projects

Table 1: Summary of Projects undertaken in 2021/22
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Introduction06.

ESERA’s annual report for the financial year ending 31 March 
2022 has been prepared in accordance to section 19 of the 

Energy Regulatory Act of 2007. Also included is a report of the 
audited financial statements for the same period. 

In terms of the above provision, the report contains, at a 
minimum the following:

• An audited Financial Position Statement, including 
any  notes thereon and documents annexed thereto 
whereby relevant information is provided;

• Information regarding licences granted, renewed, 
amended, suspended or revoked;

• Information regarding regulatory instruments and 
guidelines developed as well as directives issued;

• A report regarding the execution of the Business Plan 
of the Authority;

• A status report on the performance of the energy 
sector and energy under-takings and

• Such other information as the Authority may from 
time to time deem necessary.
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  Corporate Governance07.

7.1 Mandate 

The Authority has the core responsibility of exercising 
control over the Electricity Supply Industry. In April 
2021, the responsibility of the Authority was extended to 
regulate downstream petroleum activities. 

7.1.1 Electricity

Under the electricity sector, the primary mandate of the 
Authority is to:

•  Issue licences with license conditions for all electricity 
undertakings;

• Monitor and enforce compliance to licence conditions;
• Regulate and approve tariffs, charges and conditions 

of services provided by licensed entities;
• Receive, investigate and adjudicate complaints;
• Promote the interest of consumers whilst maintaining 

the integrity and sustainability of regulated entities.

7.1.2 Petroleum

Under the petroleum sector, the primary mandate of the 
Authority is to:

• Issue licences with license conditions for all 
downstream petroleum undertakings;

• Monitor and enforce compliance to licence conditions;

• Receive, investigate and adjudicate complaints;
• Promote the interest of consumers whilst maintaining 

the integrity and sustainability of regulated entities.

7.2 Corporate Governance

The Authority remains guided by the principles of good 
corporate governance in the discharge of its responsibilities. 
The Board has remained focused in providing strategic 
leadership to the Authority by ensuring that its vision 
and mission are achieved. The Authority has been able to 
achieve this by having a value system that supports the 
vision and mission of the organisation.  

The Board of Directors of ESERA and its committees are 
responsible for corporate governance throughout the 
organization from a strategic perspective.

7.3 Governance Structure

ESERA’s corporate governance structure is indicated below. 

7.3.1 Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for strategic 
leadership and guidance and ensuring that the Authority 
remains an effective energy regulator by promoting a 
viable and sustainable energy industry in Eswatini.
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Name of Board Member  Position   Status of Board Member  Date

Chief Mshikashika Ngcamphalala Member   Re-appointed   September 2021
Chief Maliwa Maziya  Member   Re-appointed   September 2021
Mr. Mandla Vilakati  Member   Re-appointed   September 2021
Ms. Lungile Dlamini  Chairperson   New appointment  September 2021
Mrs. Qhakazile Dlamini-Nxumalo Deputy Chairperson Re-appointed   September 2021
Ms. Susan Mordaunt  Member   New Appointment  September 2021
Mrs. Zanele Mlambo  Member   Re-appointed   September 2021
Mr. Luke Mswane   Member   New Appointment  September 2021
Mr. Skhumbuzo Tsabedze  Chief Executive Officer New Appointment  August 2021
Mr. Felix Matsebula  Board Secretary  Retained Office   n/a

Table 2: Composition of the Board from the 1st of April, 2021 to the 31st of March 2022
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Board of Directors

Lungile Dlamini 
Chairperson

Zanele Mlambo  
Board Member 

Luke Mswane  
Board Member 
 

Qhakazile Dlamini  
Deputy Board  
Chairperson 

Chief Mshikashika 
Ngcamphalala  
Board Member

Chief Maliwa Maziya  
Board Member 

Mandla Vilakati 
Board Member 

Sikhumbuzo Tsabedze 
Chief Executive Officer 

Susan Mordaunt
Board Member 

Felix N. Matsebula 
Board Secretary 

40%
Females

60%
Males
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Executive Management 

Skhumbuzo Tsabedze 
Chief Executive Officer 

Sabelo Dube  
General Manager — 
Finance and Admin.

Simphiwe Khumalo 
General Manager — 
Regulation

Felix N. Matsebula 
Board Secretary/Legal 
Counsel

Skhumbuzo Tsabedze is the 
Chief Executive Officer of 
ESERA and was the Strategic 
Services Director at EWSC 
before his appointment. 
Prior to that he served at the 
Eswatini Electricity Company 
(EEC) as Marketing Manager, 
Customer Services Manager, 
General Manager Customer 
Services as well as General 
Manager Human Resources. 
He is extensively experienced 
in the electricity industry 
with over twenty years in 
working experience.

Qualifications 

• MBL
• Master of Arts in 

Information and Library 
Studies

• Bachelor of Laws (LLB) 
• Bachelor of Science (BSc) 
• Certificate in Strategic 

Human Resources 
Management

• International Executive 
Development 
Programme (IEDP) 

Felix Matsebula is the 
Legal Counsel for ESERA, 
he is specialised in law, 
electricity regulation and 
corporate governance. 
He joined the Municipal 
Council of Mbabane in 
1995 and rose up the 
ranks to become its 
CEO, a position he held 
for five years before he 
moved to consultancy and 
subsequently moved to 
ESERA. 

Qualifications 

• BA (Law) 
• Bachelor of Laws (LLB)
• MBL
• Advocate of the High 

Court of Eswatini  

He joined ESERA as 
General Manager Finance 
and Administration in 
2010. He has worked as 
Town Treasurer at the 
Matsapha Town Board 
and as a Senior Business 
Analyst at the Public 
Enterprise Unit. He has 
served in the Eswatini Post 
and Telecommunications 
Corporation (EPTC) 
Board between 2004 to 
2007, Eswatini Water and 
Agricultural Development 
Enterprise Board 
(ESWADE) from 2001 
to 2007; and alternate 
member at SwaziBank.

Qualificatons 

• BA Accounting and 
Economics

• Association of 
Accounting Technician 
(AAT) 

• Balanced Scorecard 
Professional 
Certification

Simphiwe Khumalo 
is the GM Regulation 
for ESERA. He has 
extensive knowledge 
and understanding of the 
energy sector. He joined 
the Eswatini Electricity 
Company in 2001 and 
rose up the ranks to 
become a Maintenance 
Superintendent before 
joining ESERA as Regulation 
Manager in 2017. He has 
experience in the electricity 
industry spanning over 
twenty years.  

Qualifications 

• MPhil Corporate 
Strategy

• Master of Management 
in Finance and 
Investment 
Management

• BSc Hon. Technology 
Management

• BTech Engineering
• Certificate in Applied 

Financial Management  
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Senior Management 

ESERA has six regulation managers who are lead the various projects and initiatives that their departments 
undertake in fulfillment of its regulatory mandate. The managers are listed as follows.

Ntokozo Dlamini
Technical Regulation Manager
BSc. Electrical Engineering, PGD Business Administration

Thokozani Mvubu
Technical Regulation Manager - Oil & Gas
BSc (Chemistry and Maths), Mphil (Financial Mathematics), Adv Diploma Project Management

Cebile Dvuba
Finance Manager
BCom, R.A, MDP, SMDP

Zanele Nhlabatsi
Human Resources Manager
BCom Hon. HRM, MDP, SMDP

Teclar Maphosa
Manager - Consumer & Stakeholder Management
MBA, BCom Hon. Marketing, Project Management

7.3.2 Board Committees

There are 3 Board Committees as indicated below.

Responsible for accounting and financial reporting processes, the systems of 
internal control, internal and external audit processes, risk management and 
compliance with laws.

Responsible for attracting, retaining and motivating employees.

Responsible for the assessment, approval and monitoring of licences, prices 
and tariffs as well as quality of service, stakeholder management and consumer 
awareness.

Table 3: Board Committees 

01 

02 

03 

04 

05 
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Audit and Risk Committee

Human Resource Committee

Technical Committee

Board Committee Function 
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Activities conducted by the Board Committees are 
indicated below.

Audit and Risk Committee 

In the financial year under review, this committee held 
five meetings in order to discharge its functions. The main 
matters and issues dealt with were as follows: 

• Recommendation for an internal Audit Report and 
risk matrix;

• Oversight on the implementation of the Authority’s 
budget and Business Plan for the financial year 
2021/22 by reviewing quarterly Management 
Accounts for the financial year;

• Recommendation to the Board for approval of ESERA 
Audited financial statements for 2021/2022;

The Human Resources Committee 

In the year under review, this Committee held five meetings 
to discharge its responsibilities. The main matters and 
issues dealt with are as follows:
 
• Developed a Work from home Policy; 
• Developed an Employee Recognition scheme;
• Implemented the Job Grading and Evaluation 

Exercise;
• Developed a new structure incorporating officers 

from the Ministry of Natural Resources and Energy;
• Noting of PEU Circular number 2 of 2021;

Technical Committee 

In the year under review this Committee held six meetings 
in order to discharge its responsibilities. The main matters 
and issues dealt with were as follows: 

• Reviewing and noting quarterly reports on power 
quality monitoring;

• Reviewing and noting annual technical performance 
of distribution licensees (mainly the EEC) in the 
Electricity Supply Industry;

• Reviewing and noting the petroleum inspections and 
quality monitoring reports;

• Noting of the Electricity Regulation Index Report 
2021;

• Noting of the Study of the impact of own generation 
on the utility;

• Recommended approval of Lilanga Power’s generation 
and supply licenses;

• Recommended approval of 11 exemptions from the 
obligation to hold a generation license;

• Recommended approval of 7 wholesale, 52 retail, 
and 26 commercial consumer licenses. ommercial 
consumer licenses.

7.3.3 Board Meetings 

A total of 22 meetings were held by the Board and 
Committees and are distributed as follows:

 

7.3.4 Board Fees

Board fees for 2021/22 amounted to E0.965 million.

7.3.5 Executive Committee

The Executive Committee is responsible for assisting 
the Chief Executive Officer in overseeing the day-to-day 
operations of the Authority. The committee recommends 
policies and strategies to the Board and, once approved, 
monitors the implementation thereof. 

Table 5: ESERA Executive Committee Members as at 31st 
March 2022

Name   Position

Mr. Skhumbuzo Tsabedze             Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Felix N. Matsebula  Legal Counsel / Board 

Secretary
Mr. Sabelo J. Dube      General Manager -  
   Finance and  Administration
Mr. Simphiwe A. Khumalo         General Manager 
     - Regulation 
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Meeting    Frequency

Board of Directors  9
Audit & Risk Committee  5
Human Resources Committee 4
Technical Committee  5

Table 4: ESERA Board Meetings Distribution 
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 08.

This section of the report covers the Authority’s workforce 
as follows: staff profile; cost of staff; distribution of staff by 

gender; age and category of staff; recruitment; staff training 
and development, as well as staff health and well-being. 

Staff Profile

As at 31 March 2022, ESERA had a total of twenty-nine (29) staff members of whom twenty (20) held permanent 
appointments and 9 were under fixed term contract appointments. 

Cost of staff

In 2021/22, staff and other personnel costs amounted to E14.68 million compared to E12.22 million in 2020/21. This cost 
constituted about 38.43% of the Authority’s total operational expenditure.

Item     No.  % age   Guidelines 

Approved Establishment    37  -  Approved structure 
Filled Positions    29  78.4  percentage filled against approved   
         establishment
Women      14  48.3  percentage against filled positions
Men     15  51.7  percentage against filled positions

Human Resources 
Management

Table 6: Staff Profile
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 Distribution of staff by gender 

As at 31 March 2022, of the 29 staff members at the Authority, fifteen (15) (51.7%) were male and fourteen (14) (48.3%) 
were female. 

STAFF 
MEMBERS 

Age and Category of Staff

As at 31 March 2022, 25 out of 29 (86.2 %) of staff members were under 50 years of age and majority was on the core 
functions of the Authority as presented in the Figure below.

15 MALES14 FEMALES

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7
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9

20 - 29 30 - 39 40 - 49 50 - 60

Age Distribution Table

MALES FEMALES

29

Table 6: Staff Profile
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Recruitments 

In 2021/2022, the Authority filled fifteen positions as 
outlined below:

a) Eight positions were employees that were transferred 
from the Ministry of Natural Resources and Energy under 
Petroleum for the downstream regulation of petroleum 
functions which the Authority took over in April 2021. 
b) Four new positions were filled mainly the Finance 
Manager, Technical Regulation Manager – Electricity, 
Technical Regulation Manager – Oil & Gas and Project 
Manager – Africa Minigrids Program of which two were 
internal movement.
c) Three positions were recruited as replacement posts 
namely; Consumer and Stakeholder Manager, Technical 
Regulation Officer – Electricity and Executive Assistant. 

Resignations

The Authority received three resignations in the year 
under review, that is Manager – Consumer & Stakeholder 
Management, Tariff Analyst and Capacity Procurement 
Manager. The first two positions were filled within the 
year under review.

Staff Training and Development 

The Authority continued to invest in human capital, 
learning and development. In 2021/2022, staff training 
costs amounted to E788, 223.24, against a budget of 
E1.4 million at the end of March 2022. Due to COVID-19 
pandemic all external and physical trainings were 
suspended and only online trainings were undertaken 
which resulted in a decline on training expenditure 
compared to previous years.

 Human Resource Projects

During the year, the Authority, in its strategic objective of 
creating a high-performance organisation culture through 
engaged and motivated staff which is results oriented, 
conducted four successful projects and initiatives in 
achieving its strategic objective, namely, Skills Audit, Job 
Grading and Salary Review, Culture Audit and Business 
Process Mapping.

Performance Management

The organization uses the Performance Management 
System (PMS) as a generic tool for performance appraisal 
and for staff development. It is mandatory for all staff 
members and includes mid-term and end-of-cycle reviews 
of a work plan prepared at the beginning of the year. The 
Authority continues to monitor staff performance against 
annual targets as informed by the Organisational Strategy.
 
Staff health and Well-being

One of the key objectives of human resources management 
is to improve staff health and well-being. Broadly, this 
encompasses a commitment to protecting and promoting 
health and safety in the workplace and formulating 
policies and practices that will ensure an appropriate 
work-life balance. 

Several initiatives have already been introduced, including 
a wellness program which was developed and adopted 
for implementation. Additional measures taken by the 
Authority to support staff health and well-being include 
providing acess and support gym facilities for all staff 
throughout the year.
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 09.

9.1 Overview

This section of the report covers a brief overview of 
the financial position of the organization. The detailed 
financial statements are stated in Section 15.

9.2 Audit

The 2021/22 financial statements were successfully 
audited, and the auditor issued an unqualified and clean 
audit opinion. 

9.3 Highlights of the Financial statements

ESERA stopped reliance on Government subvention and 
is wholly funded through license fees for its operations. 
License fees collected in the financial year 2021/22 
amounted to E37.2 million compared to E22.9 million in the 
previous financial year. The Authority realized a significant 
increase in the license fees, in the year under review. 
This is due to the expanded mandate of the Authority to 
include petroleum licensing. The license fee rate remained 
at 1% of the total revenue for electricity licensed entities 

while E0.02 of every volume sold was collected from the 
petroleum licensed entities. ESERA realized a surplus of 
E0.564 million in the financial year 2021/22 compared to 
E0.726 million in the previous year.

An amount of E38.8 million was realized in the financial 
year 2021/2022 compared to E27.1 million in the previous 
financial year. On the other hand, operating expenses for 
the Authority amounted to E26.4 million and E38.2million 
in the financial years 2020/21 and 2021/22, respectively. 

ESERA’s non-current assets amounted to E6.4 million 
whilst current assets amounted to E18.2 and current 
liabilities amounted to E4.0 million in the financial year 
2021/2022. A bulk of the current liabilities relates to 
short-term funds provided for VAT reverse charge with 
ERS.

The Auditors issued an unqualified Audit Report for 
the financial year 2021/22. The financial results of the 
Authority are fully set out in the attached financial 
statements.
 

Finance
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 10.

10.1 Overview

This section of the report covers the electricity sector 
regulation. The Regulation Department is responsible for 
both economic and technical regulation of the electricity 
sector with a recently added function to regulate 
downstream petroleum activities through licensing and 
inspection. This entails setting and approving tariffs, 
charges and conditions of services provided by licensed 
entities in order to ensure a fair balance between the 
needs of the customers and regulated entities. It also 
covers provision of technical support required in licensing, 
development of regulatory instruments as well as 
monitoring and enforcement of technical compliance rules 
to ensure safe, reliable and quality supply. 

The Department is structured into two sub-units namely; 
Oil and Gas and Electricity with the Electricity Unit 
further divided into Technical Regulation and Economic 
Regulation sections.

10.2 Eswatini Electricity Supply Industry Highlights

During the period under review, the national electrification 
rate increased by 2.7% from 82.3% in 2020/21 to 85% in 
2021/22 with the total number of customers served by 
the utility increasing by 4.96% from 246,108 in 2020/21 
to 258, 304 in 2021/22. Domestic customers continued 
to increase, from 227,042 at the end of 2020/21 to 
238,698 by end of 2021/22. The biggest increase from 
the previous year was observed from domestic customers 
(5.1% increase) followed by commercial customers (2.9%), 
with industrial and irrigation customers increasing by 
(1,3%) and 0% respectively. 

The year saw an increase in local generation with the 
national utility adding a 10MW solar PV generation 
facility and a 35kW off-grid renewable energy plant. 
This increased the overall local generation by 10.3% and 
effectively reduced imports by 1.4% when compared with 
the 2020/21 financial year. Another key contributor to 
the reduced level of energy imports was the increase in 
the number of own-use small scale embedded generation 
facilities with a total installed capacity of 11.64 MW in 
2020/21 and 17.27 MW in 2021/22. This took the total 
local installed capacity to 196.5MW vis-a-vis a total 
of 179.24MW in 2020/21. The overall annual units sold 
through the national grid increased by 1.1% from 1,111.08 
GWh in the previous financial period to 1,123.64 GWh. 
This increase was mainly due to the easing of national 
lockdowns which led to increased economic activities. 

Furthermore, the Authority also initiated and completed 
the development of a number of regulatory instruments 
that seek to drive sector reforms as guided by the various 
energy policies. These include but not limited to a Small-
Scale Embedded Framework, Ringfencing and Cost-
Allocation Guidelines, Mini-grids and Off-grids Regulatory 
Framework, and the Wheeling Framework. 

10.3 The Eswatini Electricity Supply Industry

10.3.1 The Market Structure

The Eswatini Electricity Supply Industry (ESI) is dominated 
by a state-owned, vertically integrated utility with 
independent power producers that generate and sell 
electricity to the utility, the Eswatini Electricity Company 
(EEC). The EEC owns generation facilities, predominantly 
hydro, and also owns transmission and distribution 

Electricity Sector 
Regulation 
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networks.  In addition, the utility holds import, export and 
supply licenses. EEC is further designated as the System 
Operator in accordance with the Electricity Act 2007, 
which allows it to co-ordinate the power supply system 
to obtain instantaneous balance between supply and 
demand of electricity, among other activities. 

Apart from the independent producers that sell electricity 
to the utility, there are also privately-owned distribution 
and supply licensees some of which buy electricity from 
the utility and sell to consumers within their jurisdiction. 
The four main distribution licensees are the EEC, Ubombo 
Sugar Limited, Royal Eswatini Sugar Corporation and 
Usuthu Forest Products Company. The ESI market 

structure is currently undergoing several changes, with 
the Eswatini Independent Power Producer Policy (EIPPP) 
presenting the permitted transactions at different stages 
in the market’s development. There has also been an 
increase in own generation facilities that have been 
exempted from holding generation licenses in accordance 
with the Electricity Act, 2007. The Regulator exercises 
control over the electricity sector to ensure smooth 
transition to the ultimate market envisaged by the EIPP 
Policy whilst also ensuring sustainability of the existing 
players within the current market structure. Figure 2 
below illustrates the composition of the local electricity 
market structure.
 

Figure 2: Current Electricity Supply Market Structure

Apart from the independent producers that sell electricity to the utility, there 
is also privately-owned distribution and supply licensees some of which buy 
electricity from the utility and sell to consumers within their jurisdiction.
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The year on year installed generation capacity increased 
with the commissioning of the utility’s 10MW solar PV 
plant, 35kW off-grid solar PV pilot plant and about 6MW 
of small-scale embedded generation for own use. This 
ultimately saw an overall cumulative addition of 16.35MW 
into the local supply system. The generation mix which has 
always been predominantly biomass had a 9.1% decrease 
in the share of biomass when compared to the previous 
reporting cycle. This decrease was due an increase in the 

share of solar PV as more consumers particularly, those 
with industrial loads moved towards self-generation. 
Figure 3 below shows the energy mix as at March 2022. 
Hydro remained the second major contributor to the 
generation mix with thermal power achieving only 1.1% 
The solar PV share indicated in the figure below is inclusive 
of the small-scale embedded generation for own use by 
electricity consumers.

10.3.2 Installed Capacity and Electricity Supply Mix

Local Generation

For over five years, the local electricity generation mix has 
been mainly dominated by generation activities from the 
Royal Eswatini Sugar Corporation (RES Corp); the Eswatini 

Electricity Company (EEC); Ubombo Sugar Limited (USL); 
USA Distillers and Wundersight as show in Table 5 below. 
RES Corporation and USA Distillers, however, use their 
generated electricity exclusively for own consumption. 
Table 5 below shows the installed generation capacities 
and main sources from the generation licensees at the end 
of the reporting period. 

Licensee   Total Installed Capacity (MW)  Main Energy Source

RESCorp      65.5   Biomass
EEC Hydro     60.4   Hydro power
EEC Solar PV     10.0   Solar PV
USL      41.0   Biomass
USA Distillers       2.2   Coal
Wundersight       0.1   Solar PV
Small Scale Embedded 
Generation (Own Use)    17.3   Predominantly Solar PV

Total                   196.5

Table 7: Installed Capacity and Energy Sources as at March 2021

2021/22 ESERA ANNUAL REPORT26 2021/22 ESERA ANNUAL REPORT



Imports 

Eswatini is still considered a net importer of electricity 
with about 75% of its demand met through electricity 
from neighboring suppliers such as ESKOM in South 
Africa, EDM in Mozambique and the regional market (i.e. 

Southern African Power Pool). The total imports for the 
financial year 2021/22 stood at 901.5 GWh, a reduction 
of about 1.4% from the previous year. The past five years 
have seen a gradual increase in the local energy production, 
with fluctuations on imports as depicted in Table 8 below. 

Table 8: Total Local Electricity Consumption

 Figure 3: Local Generation Mix

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

EEC (GWh) 207.0 266.0 227.3 264.3 302.9

RESCorp (GWh) 118.0 133.0 126.9 141.8 138.7

USL (GWh) 165.0 177.0 180.6  209.1 182.8

Wundersight (GWh) 0.1 0.14.0 0.1 0.1 0.1

Total Local Energy 
Production (GWh)

492.0 576.0 534.9 615.3 624.4

Total Imported Energy (GWh) 1000.0 958.0 1038.0 914.4 901.5

Total Energy Sent Out (GWh) 1492.0 1534.0 1572.9 1529.8 1526.0

31.0%

53.9%

14.0%
1.1%

Breakdown of Energy Sources

Hydro Biomass Solar PV Other
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Local Electricity Generation 

The total electricity consumption fell by 0.2% from the previous reporting period (2020/2021) as shown in Figure 4 above. 
This is lower than anticipated and may be due to the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and national unrest experienced 
during the year. 

Figure 5: Total Energy Sent Out from 2018 to 2022

Figure 4: Trends in Local Generation and Imports

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
Imports 1000 958 1038 914.4 901.5
Local Generation 492 576 534.88 615.31 624.4
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Table 9: Approved Revenue Requirement for 2020/21 and 2021/2022 financial years

         2021/22                  2022/23
 
Facility Charges    74,818,674               80,200,755
Energy Charges             1,842,854,530         1,829,892,123 
Demand Charges                  351,873,900            352,643,386 
Access Charges                 155,636,515             155,561,385 
Recovered Revenues             2,425,183,619          2,418,297,649
Deferred Revenues              (177,048,383)             177,006,379 

Table 10: Projected allowed revenue recovery streams

                2021/22                          2022/23

Cost of Sales     1,431,024,762                  1,577,351,078 
Operating expenditure        885,362,916      914,849,221
Depreciation            87,411,432         88,270,227 
Allowed Return on RAB        118,958,428      152,156,693 
Other Revenues         (29,444,632)       (30,916,864) 
RCA Balances                      (245,177,670)                   (106,406,327) 
Allowed Revenues                   2,248,135,236                                2,595,304,028
 

10.4.2 EEC’s Performance Against the Approved Revenue 
Allowance

The assessment of the performance of EEC for the financial 
year under review is based on preliminary data which is 
collected on quarterly basis. The picture portrayed herein 
is therefore not conclusive, pending final audited financial 
statements and official Regulatory Clearing Account (RCA) 
submission by EEC.

The preliminary assessment of EEC’s Regulatory Clearing 
Account reflects an over-recovery of E306.40 million 
compared to a systematic over recovery of E177.05 million. 
EEC’s costs were E212.14 million less than the budget 
and recovered revenues which were E82.79 million less 
than the budget. The decrease in sales was attributed 
to differences in the customer unit sales patterns per 

category compared to what was budgeted given how the 
energy price per category is different.

The costs incurred on the other hand were lower due 
to a number of reasons, including no adverse weather 
experienced, less planned maintenance and non-
completion of projects. Other contributing factors 
included unutilized training budgets and consultancy 
budgets due to impediments brought about by the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

Table 11 shows the approved revenue allowance against 
the achieved revenue allowance, whilst Table 12 shows 
the approved revenue recovery streams against achieved 
revenue recovery streams. Table 13 shows the RCA 
balance and the breakdown of the systematically budgeted 
over-recovery, as well as the random over-recovery.
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           Approved                 Actual       Variance 

Facility Charges        74,818,674         71,466,318                           (3,352,356) 
Energy Charges                1,842,854,530    1,803,843,164                         (39,011,366) 
Demand Charges                     351,873,900        324,102,881                          (27,771,019) 
Access Charges                    155,636,515      142,982,266                        (12,654,249)
Revenue Recovery                2,425,183,619      2,342,394,629                         ( 82,788,990) 

 

10.3.4 Utility Tariff Comparison in the SADC Region

The Authority acknowledges that the local industry’s 
performance, in particular EEC, cannot be judged 
solely on comparing its current performance against 
targets and past performances. The local ESI exists in 
a wider constituency i.e. the SADC region and hence 
the need to evaluate the local utility’s performance 
against others in the region.

10.3.5 Cost-reflectivity of Tariffs in the SADC region

The Authority notes the fact that many countries 
in the region are working towards achieving cost-

reflective tariff levels to promote economic efficiency. 
A majority of the electricity utilities in the SADC 
region are heavily subsidised by their governments, 
either through subsidies in fuel or direct cash injection 
to the utility. Others are subsidised by not paying the 
cost of equity to the shareholder. 

To date, Namibia, Tanzania and Eswatini has reached 
cost-reflective tariff status. Eswatini, however, is still 
migrating towards the Cost Reflective Tariff goal. 
However, Eswatini is still working towards reducing 
cross-subsidies that have been found to be quite 
substantial across some of the utility's customer 
categories. 

Table 11: Approved revenue allowance against the achieved revenue allowance

Table 12: Approved revenue recovery streams against achieved revenue recovery streams

Table 13: RCA balance and breakdown of the systematically budgeted over-recovery and random recovery 

             Approved                   Actual           Variance
  
 Cost of Sales             1,431,024,762     1,596,439,789         165,415,027
 Operating expenditure       885,362,916        546,831,231   (338,531,685)
 Depreciation           87,411,432        184,218,269   96,806,837 
 Return on RAB & RCA Liquidation            (155,663,874)       (291,497,605)   (135,833,731) 
 Allowed Revenues          2,248,135,236          2,035,991,684  (212,143,552) 

Transfer to Regulatory Clearing Account

Actual Costs of Operations                                                  2,035,991,684
Actual Collected Revenues                         2,342,394,629
To RCA: Over-recovery                                  306,402,945
Over-recovery Breakdown:
Systematic Over-recovery                                  177,048,383
Random Over-recovery                                    129,354,562
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Member States   Regulator   Utility             Tariffs in USc/kWh
 
Angola    IRSEA    ENDE                                    2.090 
Botswana   BERA    BPC                                  11.188 
DRC        SNEL                                    8.372
Eswatini    ESERA    EEC                                  14.042
Lesotho    LEWA    LEC                                     7.965 
Madagascar   ORE    JIRAMA                                 15.360 
Malawi    MERA    ESCOM                                12.670 
Mauritius   URA    CEB                                 14.090
Mozambique   ARENE    EDM/HCB   12.414
Namibia    ECB    Nam power   15.985 
Seychelles   SEC    PUC                                  27.123
South Africa   NERSA    ESKOM                                     9.390 
Tanzania    EWURA    TANESCO   10.539 
Zambia    ERB    ZESCO/ CEC/ NDOLA      7.400 
Zimbabwe   ZERA    ZESA        8.166

Table 11: Approved revenue allowance against the achieved revenue allowance

Table 12: Approved revenue recovery streams against achieved revenue recovery streams

Table 14: Average SADC tariffs for 2021/2022

10.3.6 Tariff Levels in the SADC Region

Eswatini has the fifth highest electricity tariff level in the 
region according to surveys conducted. In light of this, it 

is important to note that Eswatini’s electricity utility, EEC, 
is one of the few utilities that does not receive subsidies 
from the government. Table 10 shows average tariffs in the 
region as at the end of the financial year 2021/22.

10.3.7 Challenges Faced in Price Regulation

Eswatini faces significant challenges in price regulation of 
the electricity sector just like other regulators in the region. 
These challenges include conflicting tariff regulation 
objectives, stakeholder expectations, information 
asymmetry, as well as cost efficiencies. In addition, the 
Authority faces challenges of inadequacy with some of its 
regulatory instruments which lead to reduced inefficient 
pricing regulatory regimes.

Conflicting Tariff Objectives

The Authority is entrusted with balancing the needs of 
different stakeholders. On one hand its ensuring the 
financial sustainability of regulated entities, through 
ensuring full recovery of prudent costs and a reasonable 
return, whilst on the other hand ensuring that prices are 
fair, just, and affordable to all customers. The demands 
of one stakeholder group are usually in conflict with the 
demands of another stakeholder group.

Information Asymmetry 

The Authority is responsible for development of regulatory 

instruments, to ensure compliance to the grid code and 
applicable technical standards. 

The regulatory instruments ensure safe, quality and reliable 
supply of electricity throughout the system and in order to 
obtain the necessary information related to the regulatory 
instruments, the Authority relies on the regulated entity as 
implementers of the instruments. As a result, information 
provided to the Regulator by the regulated entity is often 
insufficient or of poor quality thus impacting the actions 
that need to be taken by the Regulator.

Cost Efficiencies (or inefficiencies) 

The Tariff Methodology states that regulated entities are 
entitled to recover prudent costs incurred during their 
operations. However, due to information asymmetry, it is 
a challenge for the Authority to guarantee the prudence of 
costs incurred by licensed entities. However, the Authority 
is making all necessary means to ensure that allowed costs 
are as prudent as possible.
 
Inadequacy of regulatory instruments

The ESI is dynamic and is evolving at a higher pace as 
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compared to regulatory response. The advent of new 
technologies for generation, smart grid devices as well 
as storage requires the amendment or development 
of new regulatory instruments. Testament to this, the 
unprecedented increase in application for electricity resale, 
as well as request for energy banking has put a spotlight on 
the limitations of the existing regulatory instruments.

Mitigation measures to economic regulatory challenges

The Authority has worked tirelessly to address the 
challenges faced in economic regulation of the electricity 
sector. A number of projects were pursued during the 
2021/22 financial year. Most of these projects are long-
term in nature, hence some may have started in earlier 
periods and some may still be in progress as at the end of 
the financial year. 
 
10.5 Technical Regulation 

10.5.1 Compliance to the Quality of Supply Standard

As part of its mandate, the Authority regulates the quality 
of supply and service within the electricity supply industry. 
This involves conducting assessments on licensees’ level of 
compliance to the Quality of Supply (QoS) (SZNS028:2013) 
and Quality of Service (SZNS 026:2011) standards to 
ensure that supply and services are always reliable and of 
the quality that meets the minimum expectations. 

During the period under review, the Authority continued to 
monitor the quality and reliability of supply at some points 
across the network. Power quality monitoring instruments 
were installed in the following locations: 

• Mankayane 

• Ngwenya 
• Nhlangano
• Maloma
• Matsapha 
These ensure that the Regulator tracks the quality of the 
electricity supplied to consumers mainly by the utility. It 
also ensures that power quality issues that may exist at the 
point of monitoring are identified and resolved immediately, 
where possible. 

The assessments carried out in the 2021/22 financial year 
indicated that the EEC’s quality of supply generally complies 
with the QoS standard which outlines the technical 
parameters on the voltage characteristics of the electricity 
delivered to end customers with the expected minimum 
requirements for safe, reliable and quality electricity. 

However, there were some customer voltage reliability and 
stability related issues which were indicated by the high 
occurrence of interruptions, voltage dips and flickers. It 
was observed that customers in rural areas are the most 
affected by prolonged outages which were often due to bad 
weather which make it difficult for the EEC to access those 
areas in order to timeously restore power. The Authority 
will continue with its power quality monitoring initiatives 
with additional instrumentation planned for installation in 
the coming financial year.

10.5.2 Compliance to Quality of Service Standard

Supply and distribution licensees have the obligation 
to ensure that the services they provide to electricity 
consumers comply with the Quality-of-Service standard. 
This standard defines the various quality of service 
parameters that the licensees should report on for 
monitoring purposes. This is also referred to as commercial 
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performance. The quality of service performance of the EEC 
and Usuthu Forest Products Company as key commercial 
distribution licensees were monitored and evaluated 
against the relevant performance standard. This assessed 
the licensee’s ability to restore supply after an unplanned 
interruption, management of customer complaints, 
provision of quotations and supply, among others.

Service activities where improvement was required and 
non-compliance observed were noted and the utilities were 
engaged on a quarterly basis to come up with the necessary 
remedial action plans. 

10.5.3 Security of Supply

Eswatini is currently satisfying a majority of its electricity 
needs from imported power. This is seen as undesirable 
for Eswatini since with such high reliance on imports, local 
resources are not being exploited and security of supply 
and pricing depends largely on decisions made outside 
the country (Eskom and the SAPP). In an attempt to deal 
with this challenge, ESERA continued with its plans to 
procure additional capacity from both solar (circa 40MW) 
and biomass (circa 40MW) from Independent Power 
Producers. An intention to award the preferred bidders 
for the circa 40MW solar was issued, however, a request 
for review was launched which was on-going at the end of 
the year. Following an issue of a Request for Qualifications 
for the circa 40MW biomass in 2020/21, four potential 
bidders were identified from that process and accordingly 
shortlisted for Request for Proposals which the Authority 
will be launching in the coming financial year.

The Authority continued to receive several requests for 
permits (licenses and exemptions) to generate electricity 
at customer level for both self-consumption and trading. A 
total of 11 entities were granted exemptions from holding 
electricity generation licenses making the total electricity 
generated through small scale embedded generation reach 
17.27 MW. This is about 7% of the system’s maximum 
demand recorded during the year under review.

10.6 Projects and Activities Undertaken 

The Regulation Department undertook the following 
projects during the period under review:

10.6.1 Subsidy Framework

The Subsidy Framework is a tariff support mechanism 
targeting indigent households. The process of developing 
the Framework was completed and approved in the 
financial year 2019/20. The Authority endeavored to put 
this instrument into practice during the 2021/22 financial 
year through the initiation of the Lifeline Tariff targeting 
pro-poor households. It is because of these efforts that 
the Lifeline Tariff category is now operational with clear 
procedures and rules. 

10.6.2 Connection Charge Guidelines 

During the year 2021/22, the Authority finalised the 
development of Connection Charge Guidelines. The 
objective of the guidelines was to provide an approach to 
be followed in the determination of electricity connection 
charges. In line with these guidelines, the Authority 
developed a connection charge model which will assist the 
utility in determining the costs of connecting a customer 
to the grid. This will also provide transparency and 
predictability to the way connection costs are determined.

10.6.3 Ring-fencing and Cost Allocation Guidelines

In an effort to ensure cost transparency and combat unfair 
market practices by dominant players in the industry, the 
Authority embarked on a process to develop Ring-fencing 
and Cost Allocation Guidelines. The project was completed 
at the beginning of the period and will be operationalized 
in the next financial year. This will ensure that licensee 
financial reporting is ringfenced according to value-chain 
activities.

10.6.4 Small Scale Embedded Generation Framework 

The global energy transition to lower-carbon energy 
systems continues to accelerate the significant increases in 
generation and direct uses of renewable-based electricity. 
Eswatini is no exception as illustrated by the growing 
demand of self-generation. The regulator has been urged to 
continue her efforts in creating an enabling environment by 
establishing a regulatory framework which will empower 
renewables self-consumers to generate, consume and 
sell electricity while ensuring the sustainability of the 
electricity industry. 

The Subsidy Framework is a tariff support mechanism targeting indigent households. 
The process of developing the Framework was completed and approved in the financial 
year 2019/20.
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In line with the growing demand of self-generation, 
the regulator has developed a Small-Scale Embedded 
Generation (SSEG) Framework to align with the country’s 
goals of allowing private sector participation in the 
Electricity Supply Industry (ESI) as well as to reduce 
dependence on electricity imports from Eskom by 
increasing renewable energy which further addresses 
climate change. The ESERA has over the years granted a 
number of SSEG type of system exemptions from holding a 
generation license. This new framework is currently being 
implemented in collaboration with a select few pilot sites 
in collaboration with Eswatini Electricity Company (EEC). 
Upon completion of the pilot implementation of the SSEG 
framework, the national roll-out will be initiated to enable 
self-generators to interact with the national electricity grid 
sustainably and participate in a mutually beneficial manner 
within the industry.  

10.6.5 Mini-grid and Off-grid Regulatory Framework 

In the financial year 2020/21, the Authority embarked 
on a journey to develop a regulatory framework to guide 
the regulation of mini-grid and off-grid systems within the 
electricity supply industry through consultancy support

During the year under review, the Authority was able to 
conduct market and needs assessment, prepare the draft 
regulatory guidelines and engage stakeholders on the 
framework developed. The development of this instrument 
will be concluded at the beginning of the next financial year 
with the inclusion of a suitable pricing model for mini-grid 
and off-grid supply schemes in the country. 
This framework will assist the Regulator to create an 
enabling environment that promotes universal access 
and security of electricity supply, and further help in the 
establishment of the mini-grid and off-grid sector, which at 
the moment is in a nascent state.

10.6.6 Electricity Wheeling Framework 

The Authority commenced the process to develop an 
Electricity Supply Industry (ESI) wheeling framework 
whose objective is to regulate third-party access and 
usage to the national electricity grid. The framework will 
introduce a clear pricing approach for usage of the grid to 
wheel electricity. During the year under review, a consultant 
was engaged for this assignment and by the end of the 
financial year, the wheeling framework methodology had 
been prepared and stakeholder consultations undertaken 
on same. The development of the associated wheeling 
framework charge model is expected to be concluded in 
the coming year. The Authority will also be developing 
an implementation plan for the wheeling framework to 
ensure that value is derived from the regulatory tool under 
development.  

10.6.7 Review of Standards for Quality of Supply and 
Quality of Services 

Following in depth discussions with licensees, it was 
concluded that the current Quality of Supply and Quality 
of Service standards that licensees are expected to 
comply with have been overtaken by several industry 
developments and are therefore no longer efficiently 
serving their intended purposes. During the year under 
review, the Authority through an invitation from the 
Eswatini Standards Authority (SWASA) participated in 
workshops for the review of the Quality of Supply and 
Quality of Services standards.
ESERA forms part of a Technical Committee comprising 
of participants from industry which include the Eswatini 
Electricity Company, Usutu Forest Products Company, 
Conco Limited, Ministry of Natural Resources and Energy, 
and the Royal Eswatini Sugar Corporation. The Authority 
will continue to actively participate in the workshops on the 
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reviewal of the standards as they are critical frameworks 
in the regulation of the quality of supply and quality of 
service in the country. This standards’ review process is 
planned for completion in the next financial year.

10.6.8 Review of Grid Code 

The country’s grid code was developed in 2014 and with the 
recent developments in the country’s power procurement 
initiatives, it became clear that the codes, especially the 
Renewable Power Plant Code, should be reviewed to 
reflect the advancements made in the grid technological 
and operational needs. During the year under review, the 
Authority initiated the process for the procurement of 
consultancy services from an individual consultant to assist 
in the review of the Network and Renewable Power Plant 
codes. The scope execution will commence in the first 
quarter of the coming financial year and will be completed 
in the second quarter of the year.  

10.6.9 Electricity Resale Guidelines

Liberalization of the Eswatini Electricity Supply Industry 
(ESI) through legislation and policy is paving the way for 
an efficient and competitive electricity market which is 
expected to result in lower electricity prices and improved 
quality of supply for customers. Electricity resale is one 
such activity that is expected to result in improved service 
delivery for electricity end users. The reselling of electricity 
in Eswatini currently has no regulation in place as a 
guideline to ensure the businesses involved in electricity 
resale as well as resellers of bulk power purchases from the 
utility are regulated and adhere to prescribed regulations. 
A study was conducted on electricity resale activities in 
Eswatini covering the As-Is situation on electricity resale 
in the country. An analysis on the potential impact of the 
unregulated electricity resale activities in the local ESI has 
also been undertaken. The guidelines being developed for 
electricity resale shall include aspects of requirements to 

operate as a reseller, technical registration and reporting 
requirements, guidance on applicable Tariff Principles 
and recommendations of a review period and appropriate 
licenses where necessary.

10.6.10 Banning of Inefficient Lighting Products

During the year under review, the Authority worked with 
the Ministry of Natural Resources and Energy (MNRE) to 
develop the technical regulation for banning inefficient 
lighting products. The Center for Sustainable Energy 
Research (CSER) was engaged to undertake a Regulatory 
Impact Assessment (RIA) study. The recent RIA study by 
the CSER revealed that residential lighting accounts for 
a total annual energy consumption of 125.9 GWh, which 
is about 31.7% of the electricity that is consumed by the 
residential sector. Eswatini is in a transition to enforcing 
the Minimum Energy Performance Standards (MEPS) 
requirements of energy efficient appliances to facilitate 
energy saving and decarbonisation initiatives in line with 
the Eswatini Energy Master Plan and further ensuring the 
harmonisation of regulatory instruments with the regional 
SADC initiatives.
 
The results of the study further revealed that setting the 
MEPS for light bulbs at 90 lm/W can lead to energy savings 
of approximately 40% (approx. 49 GWh for the residential 
sector) which corresponds to an electricity bill savings of 
E86 million annually. This reduces the peak load by 33MW, 
leading to cost savings for Eswatini Electricity Company 
(EEC) as it procures electricity at a higher cost during peak 
hours. The developed regulatory guidelines are undergoing 
review in collaboration with key stakeholders with the 
goal to mandate energy efficient lighting products and 
therefore banning all non-compliant products according 
to the MEPS in the regulatory instrument to ensure the 
continued efforts in energy efficiency in the country.
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 11.

11.1 Overview

This section of the report covers the activities undertaken in regulating petroleum downstream activities in the Kingdom 
of Eswatini. This includes details on the Eswatini downstream petroleum industry structure, licensing, security of supply 
and compliance.

11.2 Eswatini Petroleum Industry Structure

Through the introduction of the Petroleum Act of 2020, ESERA has been mandated to regulate petroleum downstream 
activities under a licensing regime. The main responsibility is to provide for a conducive environment for petroleum 
operations and ensure economical supply of petroleum products to all stakeholders and licensing of petroleum operations.  

The petroleum downstream market is structured as follows:

Petroleum Regulation

In regulating downstream petroleum activities, the Petroleum Act empowers the Regulator to issue the following licenses: 
Wholesale, Retail, Commercial Consumer, LPG, Distribution, Storage, Blending, Natural gas and Petrochemical licenses. 
These licenses govern the importation, storage, distribution and resale of petroleum products (Unleaded Petrol 95, Diesel, 
Paraffin, Liquified Petroleum Gas (LPG), Liquified Natural Gas (LNG), Compressed Natural Gas (CNG), and ethanol blended 
fuel (biofuels). The pricing (economic regulation) of these products remains the responsibility of the Ministry of Natural 
Resources and Energy. 
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11.3 Licensing 

The 2021-2022 financial year has been a transition period for the Regulator in re-aligning all petroleum industry 
stakeholders into compliance with the requirements of Petroleum Act no 18 0f 2020. This mainly involved the 
issuing of the relevant licenses to current existing players, as well as prospective new players. This year’s main focus 
was licensing the wholesalers, retailers and commercial consumers of Unleaded petrol, Diesel, paraffin and Liquified 
Petroleum Gas (LPG).   
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In this reporting period, the Authority has received a total 
of 189 applications for all downstream petroleum licenses. 
Out of these, 97 (51%) applications were approved, while 
92 (49%) applications were at various stages of being 
processed. Out of the 97 approved applications, 12 
licenses (10 retail and 2 wholesale) were for new business 
establishments.

While there was a good response to a call for players to 
apply for the relevant licenses, there was still a significant 
number of existing players who were conducting petroleum 
activities without the required licenses. These were mainly 
in the commercial consumer and liquified petroleum gas 
categories.

11.4 Security of Supply

In the 2021-22 financial year, the petroleum supply chain 
experienced various unexpected extreme occurrences 
(such as floods) that severely affected the smooth flow 
of fuel products from the main supply points in Durban. 
These events, coupled with the unexpected closure of the 
key refineries in South Africa exposed the country’s lack of 
internal storage facilities to cushion the country’s economy 
during such interruptions. 

The figure below shows the country’s current fuel storage 
capacity, current storage utilization rate and compliance 
level to the required 14-day commercial storage capacity.
  

The Country’s commercial fuel stockholding is currently 
averaging at approximately 1 day (26 hrs), indicating a high 
security of supply risk for the economic sustainability of the 
country. The poor utilization of existing storage capacity 
has often been attributed to the country’s policy of 
rationing the importation of fuel of none-SACU countries, 
such as Mozambique, in an effort to improve SACU 
receipts. A careful balance between security of supply and 
improving the fiscal situation needs to be established in 
order to ensure economic stability for the country, whilst 
the Country works towards establishing a strategic fuel 
storage facility. 

Understanding the current risks faced by wholesalers 
around investing in expanding their commercial storage 
facilities, the Authority has focused mainly on encouraging 
the full utilization of existing storage capacities. 

11.5 Compliance to Standards

Throughout the year, the Regulator has regularly conducted 
site inspections to all existing petroleum installations in the 

country through an established inspection programme to:

• Monitor safety at petroleum facilities by inspecting the 
workplace against an established criterion.

• Monitor product quality throughout the fuel supply 
chain.

• Assess the management of petroleum product risks at 
the workplace.

• Provide practical information and assistance to assist 
site operators to comply with the industry standards, 
licensing guidelines and legislation.

11.5.1 Inspections - Infrastructure compliance

Inspections carried out in retail, commercial consumer 
and LPG sites focused mainly on regulatory compliance, 
operational safety, plant and equipment maintenance 
and emergency preparedness within the context of the 
regulation and acceptable industry standard. Below is a 
summary of the current compliance levels of the various 
different sites in the country. 

Daily Demand 
(litres)

Average Daily 
Stocks (Litres)

Expected 
14-day Stock 

(Litres)

Current 
Commercial 
Stocks (days)

Installed 
Capacity 

(litres)

% Compliance 
level

Storage 
Utilization 
factor (%)

975 192 1 070 35313 652 688 1.1 days 
(≈26 hrs)

4 423 000 7.8% 30%

Table 15: Supply of Fuel Products
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Table 16: Summary of the current compliance levels of the various different sites in the country

The Authority was also engaged in radio safety campaigns 
and awareness programmes particularly on LPG, mainly 
aimed at increasing awareness to consumers on the 
importance of safety while using LPG as a cleaner 
alternative cooking fuel. This way the Authority aims 
to foster ultimate compliance to safety standards by 
consumers, retailers, as well as LPG wholesalers.

The continued visibility of Inspectors in the field is 
positively coercing licensees into complying with industry 
standards and Licensing requirements. A regulatory 
compliance monitoring framework is currently being 
developed for the petroleum sector to provide a clear 
framework and roadmap towards improving compliance 
to safety, health, environment, risk and quality regulations, 
industry standards, operational guidelines and norms.

11.5.2 Fuel Quality Monitoring 

The Authority has a Fuel Testing Laboratory whose main 
function is to test all fuels being used by consumers to 
run vehicles in the Kingdom of Eswatini. This ensures fuel 
product quality compliance against established standards/
specifications for all fuels (petrol and diesel).

In this reporting period, the Regulator conducted a total of 
131 retail and wholesale site visits for onsite fuel quality 
inspections. This entailed checking and verifying the 
condition of the fuel products in the storage tanks and 
further sampling the products for laboratory analysis. The 
table below summarizes the common findings on sites.

Type of Site  % Compliance level  Critical issues of concern

Retail site  71%    Waste Management, Oil/Water separator
Commercial sites  55%    Fire-fighting, managing spills, and risk management 
LPG sites  45%    Safety, Fire-Fighting, and Risk Management
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 Out of the sites visited, as mentioned above, 17 had water 
content above the expected limit. These sites were directed 
to clean the affected tanks. Once cleaned, fuel samples 
were collected from the sites and found to be compliant to 
the relevant fuel standards after testing.

Compliance to supply of good quality petroleum products 
was at its best, as all 320 samples tested were found to 
be within the required specification. There was a slight 
increase in the demand for fuel testing services by external 
clients, and as such the Authority shall work towards 
bolstering the laboratory’s credibility through accreditation 
by the SADC Accreditation Services in order to improve the 
customer base for the testing services beyond Eswatini in 
the next financial year.

11.6 Current Industry Standards

a) SZNS 042-1:2014: The petroleum industry - Part 1: 
Storage and distribution of petroleum products in above-
ground bulk installations

b) SZNS SANS 10131:2004: Above ground storage tanks 
for petroleum Products

c) SZNS SANS 10089-2:2007: The petroleum industry - 
Part 2: Electrical and other installations in the distribution 
and marketing sector

d) SZNS SANS 10089-3:2010: The petroleum industry - 
Part 3: The installation, modification and decommissioning 

of underground storage tank, pumps/dispensers and 
pipework at service stations and consumer installation
 
e) SZNS SANS 10087-3:2008: The handling, storage, 
distribution and maintenance of Liquefied Petroleum Gas 
in domestic, commercial and industrial installations, Part 
3: Liquefied Petroleum Gas installations involving storage 
vessels of individual water capacity exceeding 500 L.

f) SZNS SANS 10087-4:2011: The handling, storage, 
distribution and maintenance of LPG in domestic, 
commercial and industrial installations, Part 4: The 
transportation of LPGs including the design, construction, 
inspection, fittings, filling, maintenance and repair of LP gas 
for bulk vehicles and rail tank cars.

g) SZNS 012:2012: Appliances operating on Liquefied 
Petroleum Gas – safety aspects.

h) SZNS 016:2012: Unleaded Petrol

i) SZNS 017:2012: Automotive diesel fuel

j) SZNS 018:2015: Kerosene/paraffin for domestic heating 
and illuminating

k) SZNS 019:2012: Standard specification for denatured fuel 
ethanol for blending with gasolines for use as automotive 
spark-ignition engine fuel

Site type  Issue Identified on sites

Retail    Water content above the expected limit in underground storage tanks. 
Depot    Water content above the expected limit in bulk storage tanks.
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12.1 Overview

This section of the report covers a summary of consumer 
awareness and stakeholder relations initiatives undertaken 
at ESERA in the print, broadcast and digital media space. In 
addition, it captures consumer complaints brought forward 
to ESERA and broadly outlines internal and external 
stakeholder activities undertaken within the period under 
review.

12.2 Stakeholder Management

In the year under review, the Authority undertook the 
following stakeholder management activities;

12.2.1. Stakeholder Engagement Strategy and 
Implementation Plan

This year, the Authority developed a three (3) year 
Stakeholder Engagement Strategy for the year 2022 – 2025 
and implementation plan.  This strategy outlines the key 
areas of focus for the Authority in addressing stakeholder 
engagement.  Furthermore, it outlines the activities to be 
implemented within each key focus area.

12.2.2. Stakeholder Engagement Activities

The Authority conducted stakeholder engagement 
activities as follows:

12.2.2.1 Petroleum Stakeholders:

The Authority conducted stakeholder consultations and 
workshops for petroleum downstream stakeholders on 
the new regulatory operations of the industry, industry 
guidelines and outstanding issues. Meetings were also 
held to gather the needs and concerns of the stakeholders.  
Consulted stakeholders were as follows:

i. Oil companies, 
ii. Retailers’ association, 
iii. LPG association.

12.2.2.2 Electricity Stakeholders:

i. Regional Energy Regulator’s Association Meetings

The Authority is a member of the Regional Energy Regulators 
Association (RERA). ESERA participated and represented 
Eswatini in all RERA committees and subcommittees.

12.3 Consumer Affairs

Consumer education on complaints handling

The Authority used the digital, print and broadcast media 
platforms to educate consumers about the complaints 
handling procedure. 

 
    

 12.

Consumer and Stakeholder 
Management

This section of the report covers a summary of 
consumer awareness and stakeholder relations 

initiatives undertaken at ESERA in the print, 
broadcast and digital media space. 
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Consumer Complaints Handling 

The Authority received seven (7) consumer complaints in the year under review.  The complaint types included new 
service connection, service outage, service termination and non-compliance to quality-of-service standards. Two 
(2) cases were successfully closed in the year under review and the rest were undergoing the complaints handling 
process.
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12.4 Communications

12.4.1 Media Awareness and Coverage

In the year under review, the Authority embarked on 
numerous strategic media management initiatives as 
guided by the communications strategy.  These initiatives 
helped to disseminate key messages on the following;

• The implementation of Petroleum Regulation and the 
Petroleum Act, 2020,

• Regulation of electricity self-generation in Eswatini, 
• Introduction of ESERA’s new Management; Board of 

Directors and Chief Executive Officer
• Introduction of ESERA’s new website, 
• Consumption Estimator Tool introduction and 

orientation Electricity efficiency
• Electricity safety
• Consumer complaints handling procedures and
• Capacity procurement updates

12.4.2 Print media communication

In the year under review, the Authority published ESERA 
NEWS on the Times of Eswatini and Eswatini Observer 
newspapers every fortnight.  Furthermore, the Authority 
featured in the news section covering the matters 
highlighted in 12.4.1.  Through this platform, the Authority 
successfully attained the 80% positive print media coverage 
targeted for this year.
   
12.4.3 Broadcast media communication

The Authority’s radio program called Tekulawula Emandla 

Eswatini continued this year hosted on EBIS 1 every 
Monday at 18:15.  This program was conducted in the form 
of a talk show.  The Authority also featured in the news 
section of the broadcast media.  Messages communicated 
through this platform are highlighted in section 12.4.1.

12.4.4 Digital media communication

12.4.4.5 Social Media

The Authority used social media platforms to disseminate 
information on its operations and engage with regulated 
entities and the general public. ESERA used Facebook 
for the majority of its social media communications and 
according to the Authority’s social media metrics, ESERA’s 
Facebook page’s following grew by 40.6% in the period 
under review. In addition, ESERA’s Facebook page reached 
an audience of approximately 200 000 with an engagement 
rate of more than 11 000.
         
12.4.4.6 Website

This year, ESERA launched its upgraded website and the 
consumption estimator tool hosted on the website.  The 
website detailed information about the regulation of 
electricity, the regulation of petroleum and the Authority’s 
strategic approach to energy regulation in Eswatini.  
Furthermore, it hosted the consumption estimator tool 
which assists electricity consumers to plan for their daily 
and monthly consumption by calculating the amount of 
KWh consumed by their household appliances, and indicate 
the monetary value of those KWh.
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 13. New Capacity Procurement

13. New Generation Capacity Procurement 

Under the competitive power procurement process that was initiated in 2019, in line with the Short-Term Generation 
Expansion Plan (2018) and the Eswatini Energy Master Plan.  The following activities were undertaken in the year under 
review: 

13.1 Solar PV Procurement 

The Regulator issued an intention to award for a total of 45MW from three preferred solar PV projects and the award 
has been put on hold as this procurement is currently subjudice and is expected to be resolved in the next financial year. 

13.2 Biomass Procurement 

 A total of 4 companies were shortlisted for Request for Proposals under the procurement of circa 40MW biomass energy. 
Having received support from financial support from ALSF, to procure transactional advisory services. RFP process is 
expected to commence in the next financial year and preferred bidders for power plant development will be identified 
accordingly. 
  

A total of 4 companies were shortlisted for Request 
for Proposals under the procurement of circa 40MW 

biomass energy  
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Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of the Eswatini 
Energy Regulatory Authority, comprising the statement of financial position at 31 March 2022, and the statements 
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial 
statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, and the directors’ 
report, in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-Sized Entities.

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and for maintaining 
adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

The directors have made an assessment of the ability of the Authority to continue as a going concern and have no reason 
to believe that the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements of the Eswatini Energy Regulatory Authority, as identified in the first paragraph, were approved 
by the directors on 5 August 2022 and are signed on their behalf by:

 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2022
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Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Eswatini Energy Regulatory Authority, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies 
as set out on pages 6 to 28.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Eswatini Energy 
Regulatory Authority as at 31 March 2022, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-Sized Entities and the requirements 
of the Energy Regulatory Act of 2007.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Authority in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) 
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Eswatini and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the directors’ responsibility 
statement, the directors’ report and the detailed income statement attached to the financial statements which were 
received prior to the date of the audit report. Other information does not include the financial statements and our auditors’ 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the 
other information obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-Sized Entities and the requirements of the Energy 
Regulatory Act of 2007, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholder of Eswatini Energy Regulatory Authority
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In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Authority or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Authority’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Authority to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

....................................................
Auditors 
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The directors have pleasure in presenting their report for the year ended 31 March 2022.

General business review

Background

The Authority is the energy regulator established in terms of Section 3 of the Energy Regulatory Act of 2007 and operates 
principally in Eswatini. The Authority's mandate is as follows:

- Issue licenses;
- Set license conditions;
- Enforce compliance to license conditions;
- Regulate and approve tariffs, charges and conditions of services provided by licensed entities;
- Receive, investigate and adjudicate complaints;
- Encourage development of uniform industry standards and code of conduct; and
- Promote the interest of consumers whilst maintaining the integrity and sustainability of regulated entities.

The operating results and state of affairs of the Authority are fully set out in the attached financial statements and do not 
in our opinion require any further comment.

Going concern

The board of directors believe that the Authority has adequate financial resources to continue in operation for the fore-
seeable future and accordingly the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The directors also 
note that COVID-19 pandemic did not affect the license collections from customers in the current year. There is currently 
no indication to suggest that the Authority is not a going concern. Refer to note 11 for additional details.

Subsequent events

At the date of approval of the financial statements there were no material events that occurred subsequent to the re-
porting date that required adjustments to amounts recognised in the financial statements. There were also no events that 
require disclosure in the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 March 2022
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Governance

The Board

The following were Board members during the financial year ended 31 March 2022:

Lungile Dlamini   Chairman of the Board
Qhakazile Dlamini  Vice Chairperson 
Zanele Mlambo   Member
Luke Mswane   Member 
Susan Mordaunt   Member
Mandla Vilakati   Member 
Chief Maliwa Maziya  Member
Chief Mshikashika Ngcamphalala Member 
Skhumbuzo Tsabedze  CEO 

Secretary to the Board

The secretary of the Authority during the year was Felix Matsebula.

Business and postal addresses

The registered business and postal addresses for the Authority are shown below:

Business address   Postal address

First Floor, RHUS Park  P O Box 7137
195 Kal Grant Street  Mbabane
Mbabane    H100
Eswatini Eswatini

Auditors

The Authority is audited by SNG Grant Thornton Chartered Accountants (Eswatini)

Business address   Postal address

Umkhiwa House   P.O. Box 331 
Kal Grant Street    Mbabane
Mbabane   H100
Eswatini    Eswatini

 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (Continued) 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 March 2022 
 

       Notes    2022    2021
                  E   E
    
Revenue               38 071 009 26 281 694
Other income                    132 758  81 538
Interest received                    563 927  725 761
    
Net income before expenditure and finance costs           38 767 694 27 088 993
    
Operating expenses           (23 256 100)  (13 895 

789)
Administrative expenses            (14 679 512) (12 220 644)
Finance costs                  (268 155)      (246 800)
     
Expenditure and finance costs          (38 203 767)               (26 363 233)
    
    
Total comprehensive income                 563 927        725 760
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      Note    2022               2021
                 E                      E
     
ASSETS     
     
Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment    1           6 371 112     5 666 156
     
Current assets     
     
     
Accounts receivables    2            3 892 749         337 669
Investments     3         10 369 348    72 910 766
Cash and cash equivalents    3           3 958 550      9 758 186
     
Total current assets             18 220 647   83 006 621
Total assets              24 591 759   88 672 777
     

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES     
     
Equity     
Accumulated surplus                3 393 842      3 555 675
     
                 3 393 842      3 555 675
     
Non-current liabilities     
     
Long term loan     4           2 969 925     3 272 640
Designated funds     5         14 220 275   79 100 573
     
Total non-current liabilities            17 190 200   82 373 213
     
     
Current liabilities     
     
Current portion of loan    4              309 827         280 211
Accounts payable     6              862 291         419 640
Provisions     7           2 835 599     2 044 038
      
Total current liabilities               4 007 717     2 743 889

Total equity and liabilities             24 591 759   88 672 777
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 March 2022
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2022 
 

                      Retained income                Total equity 
                    E                     E
    
Balance at 1 April 2021               3 555 675     3 555 675
Transferred to the Central Bank of Eswatini              (725 760)     (725 760)
Net surplus for the year                  563 927       563 927
    
Balance at 31 March 2022               3 393 842    3 393 842
    
    
Balance at 1 April 2020               2 829 915    2 829 915
    
Net surplus for the year                  725 760       725 760
    
Balance at 31 March 2021               3 555 675    3 555 675
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       Note                    2022               2021
                  E                      E
    
Cash flows from operating activities     
    
Cash used by/generated by operations       9      (66 279 713)   15 608 583
Interest income                   563 927         725 761
Finance costs                  (268 155)      (246 800)
Net cash flows from operating activities         (65 983 941)   16 087 544
    
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
    
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment     1        (1 471 163)    (3 997 126)
Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment               112 909             5 086
Net cash flows from investing activities          (1 358 254)    (3 992 042)
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
    
Movement in capital grant                -       (104 964)
Transfer to CBE/Government               (725 760)                     -
Loan raised/(paid)                 (273 099)      3 552 851
    
Net cash flows from financing activities              (998 859)     3 447 887
    
    
Total cash movement for the year           (68 341 054)    15 543 391
    
Cash at the beginning of the year            82 668 952    67 125 561
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     3        14 327 898    82 668 952
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 March 2022
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
for the year ended 31 March 2022
 

 General information

Eswatini Energy Regulatory Authority (ESERA) is a Government parastatal established in terms of Section   3 of the Energy 
Regulatory Act of 2007. It is a corporate body with perpetual succession capable of suing and being sued, subject to the 
provisions of the Act.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small 
and Medium Sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) and the Energy Regulatory Act of 2007.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 5 August 2022.

Basis of measurement

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Emalangeni, which is the entity's functional currency. All financial information 
presented in the Emalangeni have been rounded to the nearest figure.

Use of estimates and judgements

In preparing the annual financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the annual financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and 
the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from 
these estimates which may be material to the financial statements. Significant judgements include trade receivables and 
property plant and equipment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (continued) 
 

 
Trade receivables

The Authority assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. In determining whether 
an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Authority makes judgements as to whether there is observable 
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Authority; and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs incurred 
subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item 
of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

When an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation 
is restated proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset so that the carrying amount of the 
asset after revaluation equals its revalued amount.

The revaluation surplus in equity related to a specific item of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to 
retained earnings when the asset is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the diminishing balance method over their expected useful lives to their 
estimated residual value.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The useful lives 
of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item     Average useful life
Furniture and fixtures   10 years
Motor vehicles    5 years
Office equipment    10 years
Monitoring equipment   5 years
Computer equipment   3 years
Leasehold improvements   10 years
Cell phones    3 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If 
the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (continued) 
 

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in the carrying amount of 
another asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss 
when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment 
is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item.

Financial instruments

Classification

The Authority classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Loans and receivables
• Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained / incurred and takes place at 
initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets designated as 
at fair value through profit or loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less accumulated 
impairment losses.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been 
transferred and the Authority has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (continued) 
 

Financial instruments (continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or 
loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability 
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 
days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against 
the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
operating expenses in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These 
are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value. 

Bank overdraft and borrowings

Bank overdrafts and borrowings are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or 
redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Authority’s accounting 
policy for borrowing costs.

Tax

The Authority is exempt from income tax according to the Section 12(1) (a) (iii) read together with Section 2 of the Income 
Tax Order 1975, as amended.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (continued) 
 

Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease 
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Finance leases - lessor

The Authority recognises finance lease receivables in the statement of financial position.

Finance income is recognised based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the Authority’s net 
investment in the finance lease.

Finance leases – lessee

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to 
the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance 
charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance 
of the liability.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. 
This liability is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

Impairment of assets

The Authority assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any such indication exists, the Authority estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it 
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash- generating 
unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 
recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortization is recognized immediately 
in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (continued) 
 

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid 
vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the period in 
which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

Pension obligation

The Authority currently operates a defined contribution plan. The Authority pays contribution to a privately administered 
pension plan on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. Once the contribution have been paid, the Authority has no 
further payment obligation.  The regular contributions constitute net periodic costs for the year in which they are due and 
as such are included in staff costs.

Terminal benefits

Termination benefits are repayable whenever an employees’ employment is terminated before the normal retirement 
date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary termination in exchange for these benefits. The Authority recognises 
termination benefits when it is committed to either terminate the employment of current employees according to a detailed 
formal plan without possibility or withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of offer made to encourage 
voluntary termination. Benefits falling due more than 12 months are discounted to present values.

Statutory obligations

The Authority contributes to a statutory fund, Eswatini National Provident Fund (ENPF) in accordance with the Swaziland 
National Provident Fund Order of 1974.

Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

• the Authority has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the 
reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if 
the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the 
reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (continued) 
 

 Provisions and contingencies (continued)

If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as 
a provision.

A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when an entity: 

• has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying at least:
 - the business or part of a business concerned;
 - the principal locations affected;
 - the location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for terminating their   
 services;
 - the expenditures that will be undertaken; and
 - when the plan will be implemented; and
• has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement that 

plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it.

After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in business combinations that are recognised separately are 
subsequently measured at the higher of:

• the amount that would be recognized as a provision; and
• the amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

Related parties

The major related party to the Authority apart from board of directors is the Government of Eswatini who exercises a 
significant influence over its financial and operating decisions as it provides funding for its annual budget. 
Revenue

Revenue is recognised based on the provisions of the following;

• The Energy Regulatory Act of 2007
• The Electricity Act of 2007
• The Petroleum Act of 2021

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to ESERA 
and the amounts of revenue can be reliably measured.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (continued) 
 

 
Governments grants

Capital based government grants are included within deferred income in the statement of financial position and credited 
to the statement of comprehensive income over the estimated useful economic lives of the assets which they relate. 
Revenue based government grants are credited to the statement of comprehensive income in the year in which the 
expenditure to which they relate is incurred.

Grants are not recognised in the financial statements until there is a reasonable assurance that they will be received, 
and that ESERA will comply with the conditions applying to the grants. The balance of grants received but not shown as 
income is classified as deferred income.

Levies

Levies are recognised when the regulated entities are invoiced. No revenue on levies has been derived in the year under 
review.

Interest income

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method. When a receivable is impaired, ESERA 
reduces the carrying amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at original effective interest rate of the 
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income.
 
       

2021/22 ESERA ANNUAL REPORT62



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2022   

              2022               2021
                         E                      E

2. Accounts receivables   
    
 Trade receivables                      3 558 404                          37 383
 Employee costs in advance                                  99 673              7 599
 Prepayments                            234 672                        292 687
    
                        3 892 749                       3 37 669
    
3. Cash and cash equivalents   
    
 Cash and cash equivalents costs of:   
 Cash on hand                       5 000             5 000
 Bank balances                      3 953 550                     9 753 186
                        3 958 550                     9 758 186
    
 Investments    
 Stanlib Investment                     5 125 459                  62 989 368
 African Alliance Investment                     5 243 889                    9 921 398
                    10 369 348                  72 910 766
    
                  14 322 898                  82 668 952
    
 Bank balances   
 Eswatini Bank – call account                          618 260                     1 336 521
 Eswatini Bank – current account      2 295                 395
 Nedbank (Swaziland) Limited – current account    6 987              2 718
 Nedbank (Swaziland) Limited – call account                   2 267 079                     6 814 075
 Nedbank (Swaziland) Limited – Energy Sector Reforms project                 1 058 929                     1 598 337
 Nedbank (Swaziland) Limited – Rural Electrification Fund          -              1 140
    
                 3 953 550                     9 753 186
    
4. Finance lease obligation   
    
 Nedbank (Swaziland) Limited   
 Within one year                  309 827                      280 211
 Within five years               1 919 735                1 777 018
 Over five years               1 050 190                1 495 622
                 3 279 752                 3 552 851
 Non-current liabilities              2 969 925                    3 272 640
 Current liabilities                  309 827                        280 211
    
                  3 279 752                     3 552 851

2021/22 ESERA ANNUAL REPORT

This loan was obtained to finance the purchase of vacant land described as certain remaining portion of 15% of farm 50, Ezulwini, 
Hhohho.  The loan bears an interest at prime +0.5% per annum and is repayable over a remaining period of 98 months. The loan is 
secured by a mortgage bond for E3 400 000 over the remaining porting of 15% of farm 50, Ezulwini, Hhohho.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2022   

5. Designated funds     
      
     2022                            Received              Utilised            Interest 
                          Opening                during  during          received/   
                                     balance   the year             the year                 (paid)                  Total
         E               E                           E                        E                   E
      
     License fees     14 985 315      36 067 619      (37 183 232)       (1 848 583)        12 021 119
     Held in trust:     
     Energy Sector Reforms project    1 507 065 210 000             (658 136)                       -   1 058 929
 Implementation of Eswatini 
 Grid Code          140 227              -           -        -      140 227
 Rural Electrification Fund   61 467 966              -       (61 467 966)        -                 -
 Eswatini Efficiency Study     1 000 000              -                          -                       -  1 000 000
       
     79 100 573       36 277 619      (99 309 334)      (1 848 583) 14 220 275
           
 2021     
              Received              Utilised               Interest 
           Opening                during  during           received/ 
             balance            the year              the year                  (paid)             Total
         E               E                      E                          E                   E
      
 Government grant      -          2 575 320       (2 575 320)         -                   -
 License fees      14 656 131      24 594 140     (22 987 548)     (1 277 408)  14 985 315
 Held in trust:     
 Energy Sector Reforms project    1 526 455           500 000           (519 390)                        -    1 507 065
 Legislative Review project                     -               -                        -         -
 Implementation of Eswatini 
 Grid Code          140 227               -           -         140 227
 Rural Electrification Fund    45 788 295     13 443 398              (14 473)        2 250 746  61 467 966
 Eswatini Efficiency Study      1 500 000               -          -         (500 000)   1 000 000
      
       63 611 108      41 112 858      (26 096 731)           473 338  79 100 573
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2022   

 5. Designated fund (continued)   
    

Energy sector reforms

The project is funded by Government of Eswatini through Eswatini Energy Regulatory Authority. ESERA is holding the 
funds in a separate bank account. Payments are done strictly on instruction received from the PS of the Ministry of 
Natural Resources and Energy. The project commenced activities in 2016/17 and it is ongoing.

Implementation of Eswatini Grid Code

The Project is funded by Government of Eswatini through the Ministry of Natural Resources and Energy. Implementation 
of the Grid Code commenced in 2017 and it is still ongoing.

Rural Electrification Fund

This fund is established in terms of section 36 1 (c) of the Electricity Act, 2007.  The collecting agent is Eswatini Electricity 
Company and funds are remitted to the Authority semi-annually. The funds are kept in a separate bank account. The 
Ministry of Natural Resources and Energy is in the process of promulgating the rules and procedures of the fund. As at 31 
March 2022, the project and relevant funds has since been transferred to the Central Bank of Eswatini.

 Eswatini Efficiency Study

The funds came from the Government of Eswatini and are for carrying out of the EEC efficiency study. This study is in line 
with section 32 of the Electricity Act, 2007 wherein it requires the Authority to allow a licensee that operates efficiently 
to recover the full costs of its business activities, including a reasonable return on the capital invested in business. The 
study therefore aims to assess the efficiency or otherwise of EEC and her eligibility for a full recovery of its cost plus a 
reasonable return on capital invested. The study is still ongoing
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2022   

                   2022                           2021
                  E      E

6. Accounts payable   
    
 Accounts payables                 678 815         269 640
 Accrued audit fees                     183 476          150 000
    
                    862 291         419 640

    
7. Provisions     
 Reconciliation of provisions    
 2022                   Utilised 
      Opening                  during 
        balance  Additions    the years              Total
                   E                 E   E         E

 Provision for leave days    598 846    250 989                   -        849 835
 Provision for 13th cheque    167 784                -     (167 784)                              -
 Provision for VAT reverse charge              1 277 408     708 356                                -     1 985 764
     
                  2 044 038    959 345     (167 784)     2 835 599
     
     
 Reconciliation of provisions    
 2021               Utilised 
      Opening            during 
                      balance   Additions    the years              Total
                  E                                 E                  E                     E
 Provision for leave days   537 200       61 646   -        598 846
 Provision for 13th cheque   181 681     671 135    (685 032)        167 784
 Provision for VAT reverse charge             1 990 122                1 277 408 (1 990 122)    1 277 408
     
                 2 709 003                2 010 189 (2 675 154)    2 044 038
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                        2022              2021
                                          E                                    E
     
8. Operating surplus   
    
 Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting 
 for the following:   
 Rental expenses               1 794 789     1 661 653
 (Profit) on sale of property, plant and equipment               (103 008)           (2 554)
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment         756 306        831 251
 Employee costs        14 679 512  12 220 644
 Board expenses             965 155        840 110
    
9. Cash generated from operations   
    
 Surplus for the year            563 927        725 760
 Adjusted for:   
 Depreciation and amortisation           756 306        831 252
 (Profit) on sale of assets          (103 008)           (2 554)
 Interest received           (563 927)      (725 761)
 Finance costs             268 155        246 800
 Other non cash items   
 Changes in working capital:   
 Accounts receivables      (3 555 080)   30
 Accounts payable and provisions       1 234 212      (956 408)
 Designated funds                   (64 880 298)  15 489 465
                     (66 279 713)  15 608 583
    

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2022   
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2022   

                       2022             2021
               E                   E
    
10. Related parties   
    
 Income   
    
 Government of Eswatini subvention -             2 575 320
    
 Board expenses:   
    
 Retainer fees                135 142      148 019
 Sitting allowances               657 086      678 590
 Training                172 928        13 500
    
 Transfer to Central Bank of Eswatini:   
    
 Rural electrification fund        61 467 966   -
 Net Surplus*               725 760   -
 *Interest received as at 31 March 2021   

 
The Authority in the normal course of its business interacts with entities owned by the Government of Eswatini including 
utility corporations, the Eswatini Revenue Authority and local Government agencies. Such transactions are on an arms-
length basis. 

11. Going concern

The board of directors believe that the Eswatini Energy Regulatory Authority (ESERA) has adequate financial resources 
to continue in operation for the foreseeable future and accordingly the financial statements have been prepared on a 
going concern basis.

Eswatini Energy Regulatory Authority (ESERA) is a statutory body that was established by an Act of Parliament, The 
Energy Regulatory Act of 2007. The Authority is responsible for the energy regulation in the country and was set up 
under the Ministry of Natural Resources and Energy.

In mid-2021, the Authority got Government’s approval to regulate the petroleum industry per the Petroleum Act of 2021 
in the Kingdom of Eswatini, and this has led to increases in revenue in the current year. The Authority also has other 
projects in the pipeline that will assist in sustaining the entity.

The Authority’s operations do not rely on Government funding as it currently does not receive any subventions for the 
Government. The authority is fully self-sustainable.  This proves without doubt that it is a going concern. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 March 2022   

11. Going concern (continued)

At year end, the Authority had net cash and cash equivalents of E14 million which is readily accessible for use in the 
operations of the Authority and will provide sufficient liquidity for the ESERA for at least twelve months after the 
approval of the financial statements. The readily available cash and cash equivalents as at 31 May 2022 are E3.9 million.

The Authority has seen an increase in the trade receivables balance as at 31 May 2022, however, payments are made 
on a quarterly basis. At 31 May 2022 the Authority has received license fees of E36 067 619. which equates to the first 
quarter receipts for the subsequent year end. All customers are up to date with their payments.

The Authority is in a surplus position at 31 May 2022.

The financial statements are prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern.  After taking into 
account the easing of the Covid restrictions, Management are of the view that no material uncertainty exists which may 
cast significant doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern therefore it will be able to realise its 
assets and settle its liabilities in the ordinary course of business. 

12. Subsequent events

At the date of approval of the financial statements there were no material events that occurred subsequent to the 
reporting date that required adjustments to amounts recognised in the financial statements.  There were also no events 
that require disclosure in the financial statements. 

 

2021/22 ESERA ANNUAL REPORT 69



DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT NOT SUBJECT TO AUDIT OPINION
for the year ended 31 March 2022   

                2022               2021
                       E                     E

Income   
Application fees         149 000           80 000
Capital grant                      -         104 963
Gains on disposal of assets        103 008              2 554
Government grants                    -      2 575 320
License fees                  37 202 744   22 987 548
Tender documents          29 750           78 984
Project funds         719 265           533 86
Interest received         563 927         725 761
                   38 767 694   27 088 993
Less: Operating expenses   
Accounting fees           49 723           41 690
Auditors remuneration        150 000         160 975
Bank charges                        101 702           68 204
Board expenses         965 156         840 110
Computer expenses        220 309         131 887
Corporate Hospitality        228 128         175 777
Depreciation         756 306         831 251
Donations                     -           15 000
Employee costs                  14 684 130   12 220 644
Finance costs         268 155         246 800
Insurance         232 251         242 888
Internal audit         148 781                    -
Legal expenses                    1 313 342             8 560
Loss on disposal of assets                   -                    -
Meetings expenses        301 614           94 060
Motor vehicle expenses        301 467         167 503
Office expenses         392 607         108 044
Other          495 328                     -
Printing and stationery        287 458         190 232        
Professional fees/ management consultancy                 7 064 404      3 474 839       
Project - Energy Sector Reforms                  -         519 390
Project - Rural Electrification                  -           14 473
Publicity and communication                  1 330 273      2 516 559
Rent                     1 794 789      1 661 653
Repairs and maintenance        555 886           30 969
Staff welfare         429 174         271 426
Subscriptions         960 720      1 163 279
Telephone and fax        441 057         488 805
Tender documents                    -                     -
Training          788 223         578 150
Travelling expenses        733 356           21 268
Utilities/ cleaning         296 550           78 798
VAT reverse charge        708 356                     -
Operating expenses                 38 203 767   26 363 234
Net surplus for the year        563 927         725 760
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Physical Address
1st Floor, RHUS Office 
Park, Karl Grant Street, 
Mbabane, Eswatini

Online

Email: info@esera.org.sz 
Website: https://www.esera.org.sz

Phone & Fax
+268 2404 2103 / 8425
+268 2404 3975 (Capacity 
Procurement Unit)


